PRODUCT MONOGRAPH

BUMINATE 5% BUMINATE 25%

Albumin (Human), USP

5% Solution for Infusion 25% Solution for Infusion

Blood Product/ Human Plasma Derivative

Baxter Corporation 7125 Mississauga Road Mississauga, Ontario CANADA, L5N 0C2

Date of Approval: March 12, 2013

Submission Control No: 160731, 160732

Table of Contents

PART I: HEALTH PROFESSIONAL INFORMATION	3
SUMMARY PRODUCT INFORMATION	
DESCRIPTION	
INDICATIONS AND CLINICAL USE	
CONTRAINDICATIONS	5
WARNINGS AND PRECAUTIONS	
ADVERSE REACTIONS	8
DRUG INTERACTIONS	9
DOSAGE AND ADMINISTRATION	9
OVERDOSAGE	
ACTION AND CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY	11
STORAGE AND STABILITY	12
DOSAGE FORMS, COMPOSITION AND PACKAGING	12
PART II: SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION	13
PHARMACEUTICAL INFORMATION	13
CLINICAL TRIALS	14
DETAILED PHARMACOLOGY	14
TOXICOLOGY	14
REFERENCES	15
DADT III. CONSUMED INFORMATION	10

BUMINATE 5% BUMINATE 25%

Albumin (Human), USP

5% Solution for Infusion 25% Solution for Infusion

PART I: HEALTH PROFESSIONAL INFORMATION

SUMMARY PRODUCT INFORMATION

Route of Administration	Dosage Form / Strength	Clinically Relevant Nonmedicinal Ingredients
Intravenous	Solution for infusion: 5% and 25%	None of the nonmedicinal ingredients are clinically relevant. The sodium content is 145 ± 15 mEq/L.
		For a complete listing see Dosage Forms, Composition and Packaging section.

DESCRIPTION

BUMINATE 5%, Albumin (Human), 5% Solution and BUMINATE 25%, Albumin (Human), 25% Solution are sterile, nonpyrogenic preparations of albumin in a single dosage form for intravenous administration prepared from human venous plasma using the Cohn-Oncley cold ethanol fractionation process.

Each 100 mL of BUMINATE 5% contains 5 g of albumin.

Each 100 mL of BUMINATE 25% contains 25 g of albumin.

This product is prepared from large pools of human plasma, which may contain the causative agents of hepatitis and other viral diseases (see WARNINGS AND PRECAUTIONS). The likelihood of the presence of viable hepatitis viruses has been minimized by testing the plasma at three stages for the presence of hepatitis viruses, by fractionation steps with demonstrated virus removal capacity and by heating the product for 10-11 hours at 60°C. This procedure has been shown to be an effective method of inactivating hepatitis virus in albumin solutions even when those solutions were prepared from plasma known to be infective^{1,2,3} (see PHARMACEUTICAL INFORMATION, Viral Inactivation).

BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% contain no blood group isoagglutinins thereby permitting administration without regard to the recipient's blood group.

INDICATIONS AND CLINICAL USE

1. Hypovolemia

Hypovolemia is a possible indication for BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25%. Its effectiveness in reversing hypovolemia depends largely upon its ability to draw interstitial fluid into the circulation. It is most effective with patients who are well hydrated.

When hypovolemia is long-standing and hypoalbuminemia exists accompanied by adequate hydration or edema, 25% albumin is preferable to 5% protein solutions. ^{4,6} However, in the absence of adequate or excessive hydration, 5% protein solutions should be used or 25% Albumin should be diluted with crystalloid.

Although crystalloid solutions and colloid-containing plasma substitutes can be used in emergency treatment of shock and in other similar conditions where the restoration of blood volume is urgent, Albumin (Human) has a prolonged intravascular half-life.^{9, 15} When blood volume deficit is the result of hemorrhage, compatible red blood cells or whole blood should be administered as quickly as possible.

Recent studies have provided additional information suggesting that the use of albumin neither increases nor decreases mortality, compared to normal saline, when used for treatment of hypovolemic patients.²⁵

2. Hypoalbuminemia

A. General

Hypoalbuminemia is another possible indication for use of BUMINATE 5% or BUMINATE 25%. Hypoalbuminemia can result from one or more of the following: ^{5, 15, 19, 20, 21, 31, 32}

- (1) Inadequate production (malnutrition, burns, major injury, infections, etc.)
- (2) Excessive catabolism (burns, major injury, pancreatitis, etc.)
- (3) Loss from the body (hemorrhage, excessive renal excretion, burn exudates, etc.)
- (4) Redistribution within the body (major surgery, various inflammatory conditions, etc.)

When albumin deficit is the result of excessive protein loss, the effect of administration of albumin will be temporary unless the underlying disorder is reversed. In most cases, increased nutritional replacement of amino acids and/or protein with concurrent treatment of the underlying disorder will restore normal plasma albumin levels more effectively than albumin solutions. Occasionally hypoalbuminemia accompanying severe injuries, infections or pancreatitis cannot be quickly reversed and nutritional supplements may fail to restore serum albumin levels. In these cases, BUMINATE 5% or BUMINATE 25% might be a useful therapeutic adjunct. ²²

B. Burns

An optimum regimen for the use of albumin, electrolytes and fluid in the early treatment of burns has not been established, however, in conjunction with appropriate crystalloid therapy, BUMINATE 5% or BUMINATE 25% may be indicated for treatment of oncotic deficits after the initial 24 hour period following extensive burns and to replace the protein loss which accompanies any severe burn. ^{4, 6, 18, 26, 27, 28, 29} In severe burns immediate therapy in the first 24 hours must include large volumes of crystalloid solutions.

- C. Adult Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) –BUMINATE 25% A characteristic of ARDS is a hypoproteinemic state, which may be causally related to the interstitial pulmonary edema. Although uncertainty exists concerning the precise indication of albumin infusion in these patients, if there is a pulmonary overload accompanied by hypoalbuminemia, 25% albumin solution may have a therapeutic effect when used with a diuretic. 4, 20, 21, 22, 37
- D. Nephrosis BUMINATE 25% may be a useful aid in treating edema in patients with severe nephrosis who are receiving steroids and/or diuretics. 4, 23, 24
- 3. Cardiopulmonary Bypass Surgery BUMINATE 5% or BUMINATE 25% have been recommended prior to or during cardiopulmonary bypass surgery, although no clear data exist indicating its advantage over crystalloid solutions. 4, 6, 10, 16, 17, 30, 33, 34, 35, 36, 38

There is no valid reason for use of Albumin as an intravenous nutrient.

CONTRAINDICATIONS

- Albumin administration must not be diluted with water for injections as this may cause hemolysis in recipients. There exists a risk of potentially fatal hemolysis and acute renal failure from inappropriate use of Sterile Water for Injection as a diluent for BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25%.
- Patients with a history of allergic reactions to albumin or to any of the excipients or components of the container (see DOSAGE FORMS, COMPOSITION AND PACKAGING).
- Patients with a history of an incompatibility reaction to such preparations (see ADVERSE REACTIONS).
- Patients with cardiac failure, pulmonary edema or severe and chronic anemia because of the risk of acute circulatory overload.
- Patients with chronic renal insufficiencies due to the potential for accumulations of aluminum; BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% have been reported to contain trace amounts of aluminum^{11, 12} and accumulations of aluminum in patients with chronic renal insufficiencies have led to toxic manifestations such as hypercalcemia, vitamin D-refractory osteodystrophy, anemia, and severe progressive encephalopathy. ^{12, 13, 14} Therefore, when large volumes of BUMINATE 5%, Albumin (Human), 5% Solution or BUMINATE 25%, Albumin (Human), 25% Solution are contemplated for administration to such patients, serious consideration of these potential risks relative to the anticipated benefits should be given.

WARNINGS AND PRECAUTIONS

Serious Warnings and Precautions

- Risk of transmitting infectious agents (see General section below)
- Must <u>not</u> be diluted with water for injection (see General section below; see also CONTRAINDICATIONS and DOSAGE AND ADMINISTRATION)

The physician should discuss the risks and benefits of this product with the patient, before administering to the patient (see General section below).

General

Because this product is made from human plasma, a risk of transmitting infectious agents, e.g., viruses and, theoretically, the agent that causes Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease (CJD) in humans, cannot be totally excluded. This also applies to unknown or emerging viruses and other pathogens.

The risk of transmitting an infectious agent has been reduced by screening plasma donors for prior exposure to certain viruses, by testing for the presence of certain current virus infections, and by inactivating and/or removing certain viruses. The measures taken are considered effective for enveloped viruses such as HIV, HBV, and HCV, and for the non-enveloped viruses HAV and Parvovirus B19. (see PHARMACEUTICAL INFORMATION, Viral Inactivation)

Despite these measures, such products could still transmit disease. Based on effective donor screening and product manufacturing processes, the risk for disease transmission is considered extremely remote. No confirmed cases of transmission of viral diseases (including HIV, HBV, HCV, HAV, Parvovirus B19) or CJD have been reported for Albumin.

ALL infections thought by a physician to have been possibly transmitted by this product, should be reported by the physician, or other healthcare provider to Baxter Healthcare Corporation at 1-800-423-2862. It is strongly recommended that every time that Albumin (Human) is administered to a patient, the name and batch number of the product are recorded in order to maintain a link between the patient and the batch of the product.

Albumin (Human) solutions must not be diluted with water for injection. There exists a risk of potentially fatal hemolysis and acute renal failure from the inappropriate use of Sterile Water for Injection as a diluent for Albumin (Human). Acceptable diluents include 0.9% sodium chloride or 5% dextrose in water. (see DOSAGE AND ADMINISTRATION)

Certain components used in the packaging of this product contain natural latex which may cause allergic reactions.

Cardiovascular

Hemodynamics:

Do not administer without very close monitoring of hemodynamics; look for evidence of cardiac or respiratory failure, renal failure, or increasing intra-cranial pressure.

Hypervolemia/Hemodilution:

Albumin (Human) should be used with caution in conditions where hypervolemia and its consequences or hemodilution could represent a special risk for the patient. Examples of such conditions are:

- Decompensated cardiac insufficiency
- Hypertension
- Esophageal varices
- Pulmonary edema
- Hemorrhagic diathesis
- Compensated severe chronic anemia
- Severe anemia
- Renal and post-renal failure
- Brain edema

The rate of administration should be adjusted according to the solution concentration and the patient's hemodynamic measurements (see DOSAGE and ADMINISTRATION). Rapid administration might cause circulatory overload and pulmonary edema. ⁴⁰ At the first clinical signs of cardiovascular overload (increased respiratory rate, laboured breathing, tachycardia, rales on auscultation of the lungs, headache, dyspnea, jugular vein congestion), or increased blood pressure, raised central venous pressure and pulmonary edema, the infusion is to be stopped immediately and patient's hemodynamic parameters carefully monitored.

When BUMINATE 5% is used following injuries or surgery, the quick rise in blood pressure which follows administration makes it necessary to monitor the patient to detect and treat severed blood vessels that may not have bled at a lower blood pressure. Patients should always be carefully monitored to guard against circulatory overload.

A rise in blood pressure after BUMINATE 25% infusion necessitates careful observation of the injured or post-operative patient in order to detect and treat severed blood vessels that may not have bled at a lower blood pressure.

Immune

Suspicion of allergic or anaphylactic type reactions requires immediate discontinuation of the injection. In case of shock, standard medical treatment for shock should be implemented.

Renal

Not recommended for administration to dialysis patients.

Use with caution in patients with renal and post-renal failure (see Cardiovascular, Hypervolemia/Hemodilution above).

Special Populations

The effects of Albumin on fertility have not been established in controlled clinical trials.

Pregnant Women: There are no adequate data from the use of BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% in pregnant women. Physicians should carefully consider the potential risks and benefits for each specific patient before prescribing Albumin (Human).

Nursing Women: There are no adequate data from the use of BUMINATE 5% or BUMINATE 25% in lactating women. BUMINATE 5% or BUMINATE 25% should only be administered to Lactating women if the benefit clearly outweighs any potential risk to the nursing infant.

Pediatrics: The safety and effectiveness of BUMINATE 5% or BUMINATE 25% solution has not been established in pediatric patients, but no risks additional to those seen in adults have been identified when BUMINATE 5% or BUMINATE 25% solution has been administered to these patients.

Buminate Albumin (Human) solutions are not recommended for administration to infants. 11, 12, 13, 14

Geriatrics: No studies have been conducted to evaluate the safety and effectiveness in the geriatric population.

Monitoring and Laboratory Tests

Large Volumes

If comparatively large volumes are to be replaced, controls of coagulation and hematocrit are necessary. Care must be taken to ensure adequate substitution of other blood constituents (coagulation factors, electrolytes, platelets, and erythrocytes). Appropriate hemodynamic monitoring should be undertaken.

Electrolyte Status

When Albumin (Human) is given, the electrolyte status of the patient should be monitored and appropriate steps taken to restore or maintain the electrolyte balance.

Blood pressure

A rise in blood pressure after Albumin (Human) infusion necessitates careful observation of the injured or post-operative patient in order to detect and treat severed blood vessels that may not have bled at a lower blood pressure.

ADVERSE REACTIONS

Clinical Trial Adverse Drug Reactions

There are no data available on adverse reactions from Baxter-sponsored clinical trials conducted with BUMINATE 5% or BUMINATE 25%.

Post-Market Adverse Drug Reactions

The following adverse reactions have been reported in the post-marketing experience. These reactions are listed by MedDRA System Organ Class (SOC) Version 15.0, then by Preferred Term in order of severity.

IMMUNE SYSTEM DISORDERS: Anaphylactic shock, Anaphylactic reactions, Hypersensitivity/ Allergic reactions

NERVOUS SYSTEM DISORDERS: Headache, Dysgeusia

CARDIAC DISORDERS: Myocardial infarction, Atrial fibrillation, Tachycardia

VASCULAR DISORDERS: Hypotension, Flushing

RESPIRATORY, THORACIC, AND MEDIASTINAL DISORDERS: Pulmonary edema, Dyspnea

GASTROINTESTINAL DISORDERS: Vomiting, Nausea,

SKIN AND SUBCUTANEOUS TISSUE DISORDERS: Urticaria, Rash, Pruritis

GENERAL DISORDERS AND ADMINISTRATION SITE CONDITIONS:

Pyrexia, Chills

DRUG INTERACTIONS

No interaction studies have been performed with Albumin (Human).*

*None known based upon the absence of data from clinical trials, literature searches, and safety reports.

DOSAGE AND ADMINISTRATION

Dosing Considerations

- Dosage must be individualized.
- Solution must be administered intravenously.
- Albumin (Human) solutions should not be mixed with other medicinal products including blood and blood components, but can be used concomitantly with other parenterals such as whole blood, plasma, saline, dextrose or sodium lactate when deemed medically necessary.
- Albumin (Human) solutions should not be mixed with protein hydrolysates or solutions containing alcohol since these combinations may cause the proteins to precipitate.
- Do not add supplementary medication.
- · Patient should receive adequate hydration.
- Monitor the patient and adjust the dosage and rate of infusion to the patient's circulatory situation to guard against circulatory overload and hypervolemia.
- Ensure adequate substitution of other blood constituents (coagulation factors, electrolytes, platelets and erythrocytes), if large volumes are to be replaced.
- Monitor hemodynamic performance regularly; this may include:
 - arterial blood pressure and pulse rate
 - central venous pressure
 - pulmonary artery wedge pressure
 - urine output
 - electrolyte
 - hematocrit/hemoglobin
- BUMINATE 5% may be administered rapidly to individuals with reduced plasma volume except if patient has a history of cardiac or circulatory disease (should be administered slowly at 5 to 10 mL per minute to avoid too rapid a rise in the blood pressure).
- BUMINATE 25% must be administered intravenously at a rate not to exceed 1 mL/min to
 patients with normal blood volume. More rapid administration might cause circulatory
 overload and pulmonary edema.
- BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% solutions must not be diluted with water for injection as this may cause hemolysis in recipients. (See CONTRAINDICATIONS)

Recommended Dose and Dosage Adjustment

The concentration of the albumin preparation, dosage and the infusion-rate should be adjusted to the patient's individual requirements. The dose required depends on the size of the patient, the severity of trauma or illness and on continuing fluid and protein losses.

Measures of adequacy of circulating volume and not plasma albumin levels should be used to determine the dose required.

The quantity of BUMINATE 5% given may be increased to a total of 1.0 g albumin per kilogram of body weight (i.e. 20 mL per kilogram), but administration should be monitored by careful observation of the patient.

The addition of four volumes of normal saline or 5% dextrose to 1 volume of BUMINATE 25% gives a solution, which is approximately isotonic and isosmotic with citrated plasma.

In the absence of active hemorrhage, the total dose of BUMINATE 25% should not exceed the normal circulating albumin mass, i.e. 2 grams per kg body weight.

1. Hypovolemia/Hypovolemic Shock

For patients with significant plasma volume deficits, albumin replacement is best administered in the form of BUMINATE 5%

The initial dose of BUMINATE 5% administered should be 250 to 500 mL for older children and adults and 12 to 20 mL per kilogram of body weight for young children. It may be repeated after 30 minutes intervals if the response is not adequate.

For BUMINATE 25%, as a guideline, the initial treatment should be in the range of 100 to 200 mL for adults and 2.5 to 5 mL per kilogram body weight for children. This may be repeated after 15 to 30 minutes, if the response is not adequate.

Upon administration of additional albumin or if hemorrhage has occurred, hemodilution and a relative anemia will follow. This condition should be controlled by the supplemental administration of compatible red blood cells or compatible whole blood.

2. Burns

The optimal therapeutic regimen for administration of crystalloid and colloid solutions after extensive burns has not been established.

When BUMINATE 5% is administered after the first 24 hours following burns, an initial dose of 500 mL is recommended.

When BUMINATE 25% is administered after the first 24 hours following burns, the dose should be determined according to the patient's condition and response to treatment.

3. Hypoalbuminemia

Hypoalbuminemia is usually accompanied by a hidden extravascular albumin deficiency of equal magnitude. This total body albumin deficit must be considered when determining the amount of albumin necessary to reverse the hypoalbuminemia.

Administration

Do not use unless solution is clear of particulate matter and seal is intact. BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% are a transparent or slightly opalescent solutions that may have a greenish tint or may vary from a pale straw to an amber color. Parenteral drug products should be inspected visually for particulate matter and discoloration prior to administration, whenever solution and container permit.

This product must not be used after the expiry date given on the label.

Do not use if turbid.

- 1. Remove cap from bottle to expose center portion of rubber stopper.
- 2. Clean stopper with germicidal solution

Follow directions for use printed on the administration set container. Make certain that the administration set contains an adequate filter (15-micron or smaller).

Do not begin administration more than 4 hours after the container has been entered.

Discard unused portion.

OVERDOSAGE

Hypervolemia may occur if the dosage and rate of infusion are too high. (See WARNINGS AND PRECAUTIONS, Cardiovascular)

ACTION AND CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY

Mechanism of Action

Albumin is responsible for 70-80% of the colloid osmotic pressure of normal plasma, thus making it useful in regulating the volume of circulating blood.^{4,5,6} Albumin is also a transport protein and binds naturally occurring, therapeutic and toxic materials in the circulation.^{5,6}

Pharmacodynamics

BUMINATE 5% is osmotically equivalent to an equal volume of normal human plasma and will increase circulating plasma volume by an amount approximately equal to the volume infused.

BUMINATE 25% is osmotically equivalent to approximately five times its volume of human plasma. When injected intravenously, 25% albumin will draw about 3.5 times its volume of additional fluid into the circulation within 15 minutes, except when the patient is markedly dehydrated. This extra fluid reduces hemoconcentration and blood viscosity.

Pharmacokinetics

Total body albumin is estimated to be 350 g for a 70 kg man and is distributed throughout the extracellular compartments; more than 60% is located in the extravascular fluid compartment. The half-life of albumin is 15 to 20 days with a turnover of approximately 15 g per day.⁵

The minimum plasma albumin level necessary to prevent or reverse peripheral edema is unknown. Some investigators recommend that plasma albumin levels be maintained at approximately 2.5 g/dL. This concentration provides a plasma oncotic value of 20 mm Hg.⁴

Duration of Effect

The degree and duration of volume expansion depends upon the initial blood volume. With patients treated for diminished blood volume, the effect of infused albumin may persist for many hours; however, in patients with normal volume, the duration will be shorter.^{7,8}

STORAGE AND STABILITY

Store at room temperature, not to exceed 30°C (86°F). Avoid freezing to prevent damage to the bottle.

Stability testing for BUMINATE e 25% showed that aluminum concentration increased over time reaching levels that could exceed 1000 ppb over the shelf life of the product. (See CONTRAINDICATIONS) 41,42

DOSAGE FORMS, COMPOSITION AND PACKAGING

BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% are transparent or slightly opalescent solutions, which may have a greenish tint or may vary from a pale straw to an amber colour.

The solutions have been adjusted to physiological pH with sodium bicarbonate and/or sodium hydroxide. BUMINATE 5% is stabilized with N-acetyltryptophan (0.004 M) and sodium caprylate (0.004 M) and BUMINATE 25% is stabilized with N-acetyltryptophan (0.02 M) and sodium caprylate (0.02 M). The sodium content is 145 ± 15 mEq/L. The solutions contain no preservative and none of the coagulation factors found in fresh whole blood or plasma.

BUMINATE 5%, Albumin (Human), 5% Solution is supplied in 250 mL and 500 mL bottles containing 12.5 g or 25.0 g of albumin respectively.

BUMINATE 25%, Albumin (Human), 25% Solution is supplied in 20 mL, 50 mL, and 100 mL bottles containing 5.0 g, 12.5 g or 25.0 g of albumin, respectively.

PART II: SCIENTIFIC INFORMATION

PHARMACEUTICAL INFORMATION

Drug Substance

Proper name: Albumin Human
Molecular mass: MW 66, 500 kDa

Structural formula: The molecule consists of a single long chain of peptides comprising

585 amino acids and has a compact ellipsoid tertiary structure that is

stabilized by 17 disulphide bridges. It is stable with respect to

physiochemical influences.

Physicochemical properties: Albumin is a highly soluble, ellipsoidal protein accounting for

70 to 80% of the colloid osmotic pressure of plasma, thus making

it useful in regulating the volume of circulating blood.

Product Characteristics

BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% are prepared from human venous plasma using the Cohn-Oncley cold ethanol fractionation process. Human plasma used in the manufacture of BUMINATE is collected in the United States of America and complies with all international and national requirements for the collection of human blood and plasma by plasmapheresis.

Viral Inactivation

In vitro studies demonstrate that the manufacturing process for BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% provides for significant viral reduction. These viral reduction studies, summarized in Table 1, demonstrate viral clearance during the manufacturing process for BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% using human immunodeficiency virus, type 1 (HIV-1) both as a target virus and as model virus for HIV-2 and other lipid-enveloped RNA viruses; bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV), a model for lipid-enveloped RNA viruses, such as hepatitis C virus (HCV); West Nile Virus (WNV), a target virus and model for other similar lipid- enveloped RNA viruses; pseudorabies virus (PRV), a model for other lipid-enveloped DNA viruses such as hepatitis B virus (HBV); mice minute virus (MMV), models for non-enveloped DNA viruses such as human parvovirus B19; hepatitis A virus (HAV), a target virus and a model for other non-enveloped RNA viruses.

These studies indicate that specific manufacturing steps for BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% are capable of eliminating/inactivating a wide range of relevant and model viruses. Since the mechanism of virus elimination/inactivation by fractionation and by heating is different, the overall manufacturing process of BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% is robust in reducing viral load.

Table 1 Summary of Viral Reduction Factor for Each Virus and Processing Step									
Process Step	Viral Reduction Factor (log ₁₀)								
	Lipid Enveloped				Non-Enveloped				
	HIV-1 Flaviviridae		PRV	HAV	Parvoviridae				
		BVDV	WNV			MMV			
Processing of Fraction I+II+III/II+III supernatant to Fraction IV-4 Cuno 70CP filtrate*	>4.9	>4.8	>5.7	>5.5	>4.5	3.0			
Pasteurization	>7.8	>6.5	n.d.	>7.4	3.2	1.6**			
Mean Cumulative Reduction Factor, \log_{10}	>12.7	>11.3	>5.7	>12.9	>7.7	4.6			

n.d. = not determined

CLINICAL TRIALS

The clinical effectiveness of Albumin (Human) has been determined through many years of clinical use and is described in a number of published studies and clinical practice guidelines. This Product Monograph reflects worldwide post-market experience.

DETAILED PHARMACOLOGY

Human albumin is a normal constituent of human plasma. Refer to Product Monograph Part I, ACTION AND CLINICAL PHARMACOLOGY.

TOXICOLOGY

Human albumin is a normal constituent of human plasma. Toxicology studies have not been conducted.

^{*} Other Albumin fractionation process steps (processing of cryo-poor plasma to Fractionation I+II+III/II+III supernatant and filtration of Fraction V suspension) showed significant virus reduction capacity in *in vitro* viral clearance studies. These process steps also contribute to the overall viral clearance robustness of the manufacturing process. However, since the mechanism of virus removal is similar to that of this particular process step, the viral inactivation data from other steps were not used in the calculation of the Mean Cumulative Reduction Factor.

^{**} Recent scientific data suggest that the actual human parvovirus B19 (B19V) is far more effectively inactivated by pasteurization than indicated by model virus data. ³⁹

REFERENCES

- 1. Gellis SS, Neefe JR, Stokes J Jr, et al: Chemical, clinical and immunological studies on the products of human plasma fractionation. XXXVI. Inactivation of the virus of homologous serum hepatitis in solutions of normal human serum albumin by means of heat. J Clin Invest 1948;27:239-44.
- 2. Gerety RJ, Aronson DL: Plasma derivatives and viral hepatitis. Transfusion 1982;22:347 51.
- 3. Murray R, Diefenbach WCL, Geller H, et al: Problem of reducing danger of serum hepatitis from blood and blood products. NY State J Med 1955;55:1145-50.
- 4. Tullis JL: Albumin, 1. Background and use, and 2. Guidelines for clinical use. JAMA 1977;237:355-60,460-3.
- 5. Peters T Jr: Serum albumin, in The Plasma Proteins, 2nd ed, Vol 1. Putnam FW (ed). New York, Academic Press, 1975, pp 133-81.
- 6. Finlayson JS: Albumin products. Sem Thromb Hemostas 1980;6:85-120.
- 7. Janeway CA, Berenberg W, Hutchins G: Indications and uses of blood, blood derivatives and blood substitutes. Med Clin N Amer 1945;29:1069-94.
- 8. Janeway CA, Gibson ST, Woodruff LM, et al: Chemical, clinical, and immunological studies on the products of human plasma fractionation. VII. Concentrated human serum albumin. J Clin Invest 1944;23:465-90.
- 9. Shoemaker WC, Schluchter M, Hopkins JA, et al: Comparison of the relative effectiveness of colloids and crystalloids in emergency resuscitation. Am J Surg 1981;142:73-83.
- 10. Lowenstein E, Hallowell P, Bland JHL: Use of colloid and crystalloid solutions in open heart surgery: Physiological basis and clinical results, in Proceedings of the Workshop on Albumin. Sgouris JT, Rene A (eds.) DHEW Publication No. (NIH) 76 925, Washington DC, U.S. Government Printing Office, 1976, pp 195-210.
- 11. Maharaj D, Fell GS, Boyce BF, et al: Aluminium bone disease in patients receiving plasma exchange with contaminated albumin. Br Med J 1987;295:693-6.
- 12. Milliner DS, Shenaberger JH, Shuman P, et al: Inadvertent aluminum administration during plasma exchange due to aluminum contamination of albumin-replacement solutions. N Engl J Med 1985;312:165-7.
- 13. Ott SM, Maloney NA, Klein GL, et al: Aluminum is associated with low bone formation in patients receiving chronic parenteral nutrition. Ann Intern Med 1983;98:910-4.
- 14. Wills MR, Savory J: Aluminium poisoning: dialysis encephalopathy, osteomalacia, and anemia. Lancet 1983;2:29-34.
- 15. Vincent JL, Navickis RJ, Wilkes MM: Morbidity in hospitalized patients receiving human albumin: a meta analysis of randomized, controlled trials. Crit Care Med 2004;32(10):2029-38.
- 16. Russel JA, Navickis RJ, Wilkes MM: Albumin versus crystalloid for pump priming in cardiac surgery: meta-analysis of controlled trials. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2004;18 (4):429-37.

- 17. Wilkes MM, Navickis RJ, Sibbald WJ: Albumin versus hydroxyethyl starch in cardiopulmonary bypass surgery: a meta-analysis of postoperative bleeding. Ann Thorac Surg 2001;72(2):527-33.
- 18. Haynes GR, Navickis RJ, Wilkes MM: Albumin administration--what is the evidence of clinical benefit? A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2003;20(10):771-93.
- 19. Vincent JL, Dubois MJ, Navickis RJ, Wilkes MM: Hypoalbuminemia in acute illness: is there a rationale for intervention? A meta-analysis of cohort studies and controlled trials. Ann Surg 2003;237(3):319-34.
- 20. Martin GS, Moss M, Wheeler AP, Mealer M, Morris JA, Bernard GR: A randomized, controlled trial of furosemide with or without albumin in hypoproteinemic patients with acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 2005;33(8):1681-87.
- 21. Quinlan GJ, Mumby S, Martin GS, Bernard GR, Gutteridge JM, Evans TW: Albumin influences total plasma antioxidant capacity favorably in patients with acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 2004;32(3):755-9.
- 22. Wilkes MM, Navickis RJ: Patient Survival after Human Albumin Administration. Ann Intern Med 2001;135:149-164.
- 23. Holmberg C, Antikainen M, Ronnholm K, Ala Houhala M, Jalanko H: Management of congenital nephrotic syndrome of the Finnish type. Pediatr Nephrol 1995;9(1):87-93.
- 24. Fliser D, Zurbruggen I, Mutschler E, Bischoff I, Nussberger J, Franek E, Ritz E: Coadministration of albumin and furosemide in patients with the nephrotic syndrome. Kidney Int 1999;55(2):629-34.
- 25. Simon R Finfer, Neil W Boyce, Robyn N Norton: The SAFE Study: a landmark trial of the safety of albumin in intensive care. MJA 2004;181(5):237-238.
- 26. Recinos PR, Hartford CA, Ziffren SE: Fluid resuscitation of burn patients comparing a crystalloid with a colloid containing solution: a prospective study. J Iowa Med Soc 1975;65(10):426-32.
- 27. Jelenko 3rd C, Williams JB, Wheeler ML, Callaway BD, Fackler VK, Albers CA, Barger AA: Studies in shock and resuscitation, I: use of a hypertonic, albumin-containing, fluid demand regimen (HALFD) in resuscitation. Crit Care Med 1979;7(4):157-67.
- 28. Goodwin CW, Dorethy J, Lam V, Pruitt Jr. BA: Randomized trial of efficacy of crystalloid and colloid resuscitation on hemodynamic response and lung water following thermal injury. Ann Surg 1983;197(5):520-31.
- 29. Rackow EC, Falk JL, Fein IA, Siegel JS, Packman MI, Haupt MT, Kaufman BS, Putnam D:
 - Fluid resuscitation in circulatory shock: a comparison of the cardiorespiratory effects of albumin, hetastarch, and saline solutions in patients with hypovolemic and septic shock. Crit Care Med 1983;11(11):839-50.

- 30. Gallagher JD, Moore RA, Kerns D, Jose AB, Botros SB, Flickers S, Naidech H, Clark DL: Effects of colloid or crystalloid administration on pulmonary extravascular water in the postoperative period after coronary artery bypass grafting. Anesth Analg 1985;64(8):753-8.
- 31. Brown RO, Bradley JE, Bekemeyer WB, Luther RW: Effect of albumin supplementation during parenteral nutrition on hospital morbidity. Crit Care Med 1988;16(12):1177-82.
- 32. Wojtysiak SL, Brown RO, Robertson D, Powers DA, Kudsk KA: Effect of hypoalbuminemia and parenteral nutrition on free water excretion and electrolyte-free water resorption. Crit Care Med 1992;20(2):164-9.
- 33. Hoeft A, Korb H, Mehlhorn U, Stephan H, Sonntag H: Priming of cardiopulmonary bypass with human albumin or Ringer lactate: effect on colloid osmotic pressure and extravascular lung water. Br J Anaesth 1991;66(1):73-80.
- 34. Mastroianni L, Low HB, Rollman J, Wagle M, Bleske B, Chow MS: A comparison of 10% pentastarch and 5% albumin in patients undergoing open-heart surgery. J Clin Pharmacol 1994;34(1):34-40.
- 35. Tollofsrud S, Svennevig JL, Breivik H, Kongsgaard U, Ozer M, Hysing E, Mohr B, Seem E, Geiran O, Abdelnour M: Fluid balance and pulmonary functions during and after coronary artery bypass surgery: Ringer's acetate compared with dextran, polygeline, or albumin. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1995;39(5):671-7.
- 36. Wahba A, Sendtner E, Birnbaum DE: Fluid resuscitation with Haemaccel vs. human albumin following coronary artery bypass grafting. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1996;44(4):178-82.
- 37. Metildi LA, Shackford SR, Virgilio RW, Peters RM: Crystalloid versus colloid in fluid resuscitation of patients with severe pulmonary insufficiency. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1984;158(3):207-12
- 38. Saxena N, Chauhan S, Ramesh GS: A comparison of hetastarch, albumin and Ringer lactate for volume replacement in coronary artery bypass surgery. J Anaesth Clin Pharmacol 1997;13:117-120.
- 39. Blümel J et al., Inactivation of Parvovirus B19 During Pasteurization of Human Serum Albumin. Transfusion 2002;42:1011-1018.
- 40. Grocott, Michael PW, Mythen, Michael G, and Gan, Tong J. Perioperative Fluid Management and Clinical Outcomes in Adults. Anesth Analg. 2005;100:1100.
- 41. Data on file; Baxter Healthcare Corporation
- 42. Data on file; Baxter Healthcare Corporation
- 43. Maitland K, et al. Mortality after Fluid Bolus in African Children with Severe Infection. *NEJM*; 2011; 364:2483-2495.
- 44. Ginsberg MD, et al. The Albumin in Acute Stroke (ALIAS) Multicenter Clinical Trial. *Stroke* 2011; 42:119-127.

PART III: CONSUMER INFORMATION

BUMINATE 5% BUMINATE 25%

Albumin (Human), USP

5% Solution for Infusion 25% Solution for Infusion

This leaflet is part III of a three-part "Product Monograph" published when BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% were approved for sale in Canada and is designed specifically for Consumers. This leaflet is a summary and will not tell you everything about BUMINATE. Contact your doctor or pharmacist if you have any questions about the drug.

ABOUT THIS MEDICATION

What the medication is used for:

BUMINATE is used to used to restore and maintain circulating blood volume, for treating a variety of conditions, including shock, burns, low protein levels, and low albumin levels. It may be used for certain conditions as determined by your doctor.

What it does:

BUMINATE works by helping to increase the volume of the blood in the blood vessels.

When it should not be used:

BUMINATE should not be used in the following situations:

- if you are allergic to albumin or to any of the ingredients in the product or to any components of the container.
- if you have heart failure
- if you have fluid accumulation in your lungs
- if you have severe and chronic anemia
- if you have loss of kidney function

What the medicinal ingredient is:

Albumin (Human)

What the important nonmedicinal ingredients are:

The sodium content is 145 ± 15 mEq/L.

For a full listing of nonmedicinal ingredients see Part 1 of the product monograph.

What dosage forms it comes in:

BUMINATE 5% is supplied in 250 mL and 500 mL bottles containing 12.5 g or 25.0 g of albumin respectively. BUMINATE 25% is supplied in 20 mL, 50 mL, and 100 mL bottles containing 5.0 g, 12.5 g or 25.0 g of albumin, respectively.

WARNINGS AND PRECAUTIONS

Serious Warnings and Precautions

Risk of transmitting infectious agents (because BUMINATE 5% and BUMINATE 25% are made from human plasma, a risk of transmitting infectious agents, such as viruses or other agents that can cause infection, cannot be totally excluded.)

Must not be diluted with water for injection (your doctor will use saline or dextrose solutions if it is necessary to dilute BUMINATE 5% or BUMINATE 25%)

BEFORE you use BUMINATE talk to your doctor or pharmacist if:

you have heart failure, fluid accumulation in your lungs, anemia, or kidney problems

you have high blood pressure, abnormally enlarged veins in the lower part of your esophagus, an abnormal tendency to bleed, or swelling of the brain

you have any allergies to albumin or to any of the ingredients in the product or to any components of the container you are pregnant or breast feeding

Ask your doctor to discuss the risks and benefits of this product before it is administered to you.

INTERACTIONS WITH THIS MEDICATION

No interactions are known based upon the absence of data from clinical trials, literature searches, and safety reports; however, BUMINATE should be not mixed with other medication.

PROPER USE OF THIS MEDICATION

Usual dose:

Albumin is injected into a vein in the arm and is always given under direct supervision of a doctor, usually in a hospital or clinic setting. The dose and the rate at which this albumin is given vary according to the person's individual needs for plasma albumin, and depend on the condition being treated.

Overdose:

Fluid overload may occur if the dosage and rate of infusion are too high. This could lead to an increase in weight, swelling in the legs and arms, and/or fluid in the abdomen.

In case of drug overdose, contact a health care practitioner, hospital emergency department or regional Poison Control Centre immediately, even if there are no symptoms.

Missed Dose:

It is important to use this medication exactly as prescribed by your doctor. If you miss an appointment for your treatment, contact your doctor as soon as possible.

SIDE EFFECTS AND WHAT TO DO ABOUT THEM

Untoward reactions to BUMINATE are extremely rare, although nausea, fever, chills or hives may occasionally occur. Such symptoms usually disappear when the infusion is slowed or stopped for a short period of time. In isolated cases, anaphylactic reactions or shock may occur. In these cases, the infusion should be stopped immediately and an appropriate treatment instituted. If the dose and infusion rate are too high, fluid overload may occur. Signs that this is happening include headache, uncomfortable awareness of your breathing, rapid heartbeat, increased blood pressure or water in the lungs. Your doctor must immediately stop the infusion and check your blood circulation.

This is not a complete list of side effects. For any unexpected effects while taking BUMINATE, contact your doctor or pharmacist.

HOW TO STORE IT

Store at room temperature, not to exceed 30°C (86°F). Avoid freezing to prevent damage to the bottle.

REPORTING SUSPECTED SIDE EFFECTS

You can report any suspected adverse reactions associated with the use of health products to the Canada Vigilance Program by one of the following 3 ways:

- o Report online at www.healthcanada.gc.ca/medeffect
- o Call toll-free at 1-866-234-2345
- Complete a Canada Vigilance Reporting Form and:
 - o Fax toll-free to 1-866-678-6789, or
 - Mail to:

Canada Vigilance Program Health Canada Postal Locator 0701D Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0K9

Postage paid labels, Canada Vigilance Reporting Form and the adverse reaction reporting guidelines are available on the MedEffectTM Canada Web site at www.healthcanada.gc.ca/medeffect.

NOTE: Should you require information related to the management of side effects, contact your health professional. The Canada Vigilance Program does not provide medical advice.

MORE INFORMATION

This document plus the full product monograph, prepared for health professionals can be obtained by contacting the sponsor, Baxter Corporation at: 1-800-387-8399.

This leaflet was prepared by Baxter Corporation.

Last revised: March 12, 2013